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RFP AMENDMENT #2,
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SUBMITTED QUESTIONS & ANSWERS SUMMARY

	RFP NUMBER AND TITLE:
	RFP #202508118 Housing Stability Services 

	RFP ISSUED BY:
	Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Behavioral Health

	INFORMATIONAL MEETING LOCATION:
	Zoom

	INFORMATIONAL MEETING DATE/TIME:
	September 10, 2025 @ 1:00 p.m. (as amended)

	SUBMITTED QUESTIONS DUE DATE:
	September 12, 2025, no later than 11:59 p.m. (as amended)

	QUESTION & ANSWER SUMMARY ISSUED:
	September 24, 2025

	PROPOSAL DUE DATE:
	October 15, 2025, no later than 11:59 p.m. 

	PROPOSALS DUE TO:
	proposals@maine.gov 

	
Unless specifically addressed below, all other provisions and clauses of the RFP remain unchanged.


	DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES IN RFP:  

1. Part II, D.1. language is revised. 
2. Part II, E.1. language is revised. 
3. Appendix F, Response Submission Template is replaced in its entirety. 

	REVISED LANGUAGE IN RFP:

1. Part II, D.1. language is amended to read: 

1. Demonstrate best efforts to ensure a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units are available to support HSS provision, throughout the duration of the contract, through collaboration and outreach with existing and potential new property owner(s). 
a. Notify the Department within seven (7) calendar days when:
i. The property owner provides notification regarding an anticipated HSS Unit vacancy; and
ii. When a previously identified HSS Unit is no longer available, and include an anticipated plan to ensure the minimum of ten (10) HSS Units are available within the Target Area (Hub).

	2. Part II, E.1. language is amended to read: 

1. Once an individual has been identified as a potential Participant and has been awarded a housing resource for a Property Under the Program, ensure HSS staff engage with the individual to confirm eligibility documentation and program requirements and enroll the individual into HSS, as appropriate. Once a potential Participant’s eligibility has been confirmed, engage with the Participant and their support system to assist with ensuring tenancy at the property, including lease execution. 
a. [bookmark: _Hlk190775212]Maintain supporting documentation within the Participant’s file indicating their eligibility to receive Housing First services, including the appropriate correlating Condition and documentation of Chronic Homelessness, per 22 M.R.S. §20-A. 

3. Appendix F, Response Submission Template can be accessed by double clicking on the document icon below: 








Provided below are questions asked at the Informational Meeting and the Department’s answers.

	[bookmark: _Hlk48905851]1
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.3.a.
Page 13
	Can existing Targeted Case Managers also provide Housing Stability Services that are not TCM billable to individuals who meet the criteria for both services? Or does the agency need to create new positions? 

	
	Answer

	
	It is at the Bidder’s discretion to develop a staffing plan to meet the requirements outlined in the RFP.  However, if a position is fully paid for through a separate contract and/or billing method (e.g., MaineCare), the awarded Bidders may not bill for this same position through the contract resulting from this RFP.



	2
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	To clarify, is this RFP for properties anywhere with a landlord willing to participate or properties determined by the Department already.

	
	Answer

	
	Properties in which Bidders identify where property owners are willing to allow participation in HSS. 



	3
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, C.
Page 9
	What does “identify a minimum of 10 Units available” mean?

	
	Answer

	
	Available Units means a property owner has available units which can be used to support an individual with Housing Stability Services.   



	4
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, C.
Page 9
	a. Do units have to be available the day proposals are submitted?
b. Is there any support to help the individual access the unit, any support within the contract to pay for the rent or offset the expenses?

	
	Answer

	
	a. Bidders must identify a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units available to support HSS. The Department does not expect all ten (10) HSS Units to be vacant the day proposals are submitted; however, awarded Bidders must submit MOUs with the anticipated property owner(s) to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of the start of the initial period of performance to ensure a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units are available. 
b. No. However, HSS staff must assist Participants with garnering any needed services and supports. 



	5
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, C.
Page 9 
	Is there an expectation of a minimum number of individuals to be served?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes, the Department expects the awarded Bidders to provide HSS to a minimum of ten (10) individuals. 



	6
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, B.
Page 11; and
Part IV, Section III, Attachment 6.
Page 24. 
	Is a list or narrative required for Attachment 6 (anticipated partnerships with MaineCare Health and Behavioral Health Providers), or any letters of intent required?

	
	Answer

	
	Bidders must identify (Attachment 6) the specific agencies the Bidder proposes developing formal relationships with and the anticipated services to be provided by those agencies. Letters of intent related to Attachment 6 are not required. 



	7
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A.2.
Page 7 - 8
	Is the minimum of 20 hours per week of HSS the total minimum number to be provided at each site or across all housing sites? 

	
	Answer

	
	[bookmark: _Hlk191975368]Each awarded Bidder must ensure HSS is available a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week to a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units; and services must adequately meet Participant needs to build independent living skills, maintain housing, and access necessary MaineCare services and non-MaineCare community-based services.  HSS Units can be within the same building or across multiple buildings. 



	8
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.1.
Page 14 
	Is the intention for there to be an on-call line that is staffed 24/7?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes, HSS participants must have access to on-call support 24/7/365.



	9
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Definitions
Page 5; and
Part I, A.2.
	a. Is a single room occupancy (SROs) acceptable as an HSS Unit?  
b. The RFP requires a minimum of 20 hours per week, is there a participant acuity level that is different than what would be expected for the model that requires 24/7 staffing? 
c. Is there a different participant acuity level for participation vs what would be served via the Housing for Good model, which requires the 24/7 staffing.

	
	Answer

	
	a. Yes, an SRO with a lease is an acceptable HSS Unit which must comply with related federal regulation regarding SROs, e.g., 42 CFR Part 982 Subpart M.
b. HSS is intended to serve individuals who may not require 24/7 on-site staffing and must adequately meet the needs of the Participants to build independent living skills, to maintain housing and to access necessary community-based services.
c. Refer to the answer to question 9.b. above.



	10
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, C.
Page 9
	Does this mean that you have to identify units that are empty and available for rent? Or can they be occupied already with people that need these services? 

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answer to question 4.a. of this document.  



Provided below are submitted written questions received and the Department’s answers

	11
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	Is this the RFP for shelter services?  It is unclear if this is for shelter providers who are providing housing stabilization services or if this is something different?

	
	Answer

	
	No.  This RFP is for supportive services which are not necessarily provided on site or twenty-four (24) hours per day. Housing Stability Services (HSS) must be available no less than twenty (20) hours per week and must adequately meet the needs of the Participants to build independent living skills, to maintain housing and to access necessary community-based services. HSS may also include outreach to persons who are experiencing chronic homelessness for the purposes of establishing connections and providing support that may result in securing stable housing at a Property Under the Program. All eligible Bidders may submit a proposal for this RFP.   



	12
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV
Page 25
	What are allowable and unallowable costs for the budget? Is the expectation that the proposed budget is for personnel time, mileage, and indirect? Or can the budget also include costs for supporting a person’s housing such as getting IDs, security deposits, etc.?

	
	Answer

	
	It is at the Bidder’s discretion to propose a budget that aligns with HSS as outlined in the RFP.  Funds cannot be used to support individuals with housing, i.e., IDs, security deposits, rent, utilities, etc. 



	13
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV
Page 25
	To confirm, if the bidder can support more than 10 units which would require more than 20 hours/week, the proposed costs to be included in the budget are for providing HHS for only 10 units for only 20 hours/week. Correct?

	
	Answer

	
	Correct, in order to ensure fairness in cost across each Hub, the proposed cost must be based on providing HSS for ten (10) HSS Units for twenty (20) hours per week. The Department will negotiate with the awarded Bidders who are able to provide HSS for more than ten (10) HSS Units more than twenty (20) hours per week. 



	14
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	If Bidder is able to support more than 10 units, should that be described in Proposed Services section of the application?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes.



	15
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Definitions
Page 6
	The definition of Property Under the Program is defined as, “A property established, developed, or intended for purposes of providing permanent housing to individuals who are experiencing Chronic Homelessness that provides independent apartment units to Participants under Housing First.” Additionally, the definition of Tenant is defined as, “A Participant who is under a lease for a HSS Unit at a Property Under the Program.” 

Do the property managers selected by the applicant need to be a current HSS property manager vendor approved by the Department and/or receive approval by any other entity aside from the applicant?

	
	Answer

	
	No, Bidders are required to ensure property owners complete a letter of commitment, as indicated in Appendix C, and include with the Bidder’s proposal submission.



	16
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Definitions
Page 6
	If there are two people on the lease for one HSS unit, are they both considered Participants and therefore, both receive individualized support services as defined by this RFP?

	
	Answer

	
	All individuals identified on a lease for one (1) HSS Unit and  identified as HSS Participants by the Maine CoC CE are eligible to receive individualized support services under the contract resulting from this RFP. 



	17
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Definitions
Page 6
	Is it solely the responsibility of the applicant to assess eligibility of the Participant, or is there any other entity that must approve eligibility and/or be involved in the referral of the Participant?

	
	Answer

	
	HSS Participants will be referred through the Maine CoC CE System.  The awarded Bidders will assess eligibility upon referral and make a determination regarding HSS enrollment, refer to the amended language at the beginning of this document.  



	18
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A.2. 
Pages 7 - 8
	The RFP states supportive services must be available to Participants living in the community for a minimum of 20 hours per week, as applicable to the Participant, and that HSS providers are to maximize opportunities to leverage services provided via MaineCare. 

Is this program required to ensure a minimum of 20 hours per week of supportive services, or are the other supportive services provided by other entities part of those 20 hours? 

For example, if the applicant is collaborating with three community-based organizations to meet the needs of the Participant and these services are identified in the Participant’s Individualized Service Plan, would the hours of supportive services by those providers be able to be considered part of the 20 hours of supportive services in an effort to maximize alternative funding and minimize staffing costs under this program?

	
	Answer

	
	Each awarded Bidder must ensure HSS is available a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week to a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units; supportive services provided by an entity other than the awarded Bidder does not meet this requirement. 



	19
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A.2. 
Pages 7-8
	Can the 20 hours per week of support services be a combination of 1:1, group, drop-in activities, (as opposed to all being 1:1)?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes.



	20
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, A.4. Page 11
	If the applicant is unable to secure Naloxone free of charge through partnerships with other community-based organizations, is the purchase of Naloxone an eligible expense for this program to meet the requirement of having Naloxone on hand?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes; however, sufficient justification is required to indicate the awarded Bidder’s inability to secure Naloxone through other means. Business and organizations across Maine receive Naloxone kits free of charge through the Maine Naloxone Distribution Initiative (MNDI).



	21
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.4.a. Page 13
	The RFP states, “Department approval will be required for policies and procedures not delivered in-person.” 

Can you clarify this statement?

	
	Answer

	
	The awarded Bidders will be required to submit any policies and procedures to the Department for approval for any services under this RFP that are not delivered in-person.



	22
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.5. Page 13
	The RFP states, “Provide a method for interested Participants to work and/or volunteer within the awarded Bidder’s agency.” 

Can you elaborate on this statement?

	
	Answer

	
	The services under this RFP require the awarded Bidders to provide a method for how they will facilitate work and/or volunteer opportunities for interested HSS Participants within the awarded Bidder’s agency.



	23
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.1. Page 14
	The RFP states, “Ensure on-call support is available when staff are not in-person to ensure Participants’ needs are appropriately triaged.” 

Is the requirement for 24/7 on-call support, 7 days a week, 365 days a year?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes.



	24
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.1. Page 14
	Regarding 24/7 on-call support: 

a. What is the expected level of service/reactivity related to 24-hour on-call? 
b. Is this to attend to building/unit issues, or client-specific needs?

	
	Answer

	
	a. The level of service/reactivity relates to the needs of the clients (e.g. phone coaching, in-person response, next day follow-up, referral to crisis/emergency services).  The intent of the on-call support is not to replace existing crisis lines or warm lines.  
b. On-call support is specific to attending to client-specific needs, which may include Unit-related concerns and assistance with contacting the property manager/owner to assist with the Tenant’s needs. 



	25
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.1. Page 14
	The RFP states, “Ensure HSS is provided through a multidisciplinary team, including sufficient supervision for clinical and non-clinical staff.” 

a. Is there a requirement to have master’s level clinical and non-clinical staff on the team of staff? 
b. If clinical staff are required, is providing mental health counseling a component of HSS?

	
	Answer

	
	a. It is at the Bidder’s discretion to determine the anticipated staffing plan required to provide the service. However, Bidders must ensure all staff receive regular supervision from qualified clinical personnel. 
b. It is at the Bidder’s discretion; however, all MaineCare billable services must be billed to MaineCare and HSS may not duplicate any other services received by the Participant. Should a Participant be eligible for MaineCare services, it is expected that MaineCare services be explored first, prior to utilization of HSS for any similar service. Services provided through HSS that may otherwise be available through MaineCare will require justification. 



	26
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.1. Page 15
	The RFP states, “Develop and maintain a network of volunteers, including Participants, who are available in-person who can provide peer support.” 

a. Are there benchmarks for the number of volunteers applicants should aim for? 
b. Are stipends for volunteers considered an eligible expense?

	
	Answer

	
	a. Not at this time; however, it is expected that the volunteer network should be sufficient to provide in-person peer support to interested HSS Participants. 
b. No. 



	27
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, K.1.d. Page 17
	The RFP states the monthly report should include information regarding HQS or NSPIRE inspections, including number to be completed and number passed/failed. 

Is it the responsibility of the applicant to conduct HQS or NSPIRE inspections or that task the responsibility of the property manager?

	
	Answer

	
	Conducting HQS/NSPIRE inspections are not the responsibility of the awarded Bidder; however, awarded Bidders are expected to have knowledge of each HSS Participant’s inspection status, and to provide Housing Support.



	28
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, B.
Page 11; and
Part IV, Section III, Attachment 6.
Page 24.
	The RFP lists an attachment requirement of “Anticipated Partnerships with MaineCare Health and Behavioral Health Providers.” 

What documentation should be attached to serve as evidence of anticipated partnerships with MaineCare?

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answer to question 6 of this document. 



	29
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	a. What housing resource/rental assistance program will program participants have access to, and will this rental assistance include financial assistance with utilities? 
b. Will there be client rental contribution?

	
	Answer

	
	a. There is no resource/rental assistance available under this RFP.
b. This is dependent on the housing resource/rental assistance available to the Tenant.



	30
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	What is the service delivery model (because homeless status impacts eligibility for TCM)?

	
	Answer

	
	The Department is currently undergoing changes to TCM Rule, as noted in the Notice of MaineCare Reimbursement Methodology Change, MaineCare Benefits Manual, Section 13, Targeted Case Management Services. HSS must adequately meet the needs of the Participants to build independent living skills, maintain housing, and access necessary community-based services. It is expected that HSS staff will work with all consenting Participants to ensure they receive referrals to all available and eligible services and supports to meet Participant needs. 



	31
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, J. Table 1, d.
Page 16
	The RFP states, “At least eighty-five (85%) of Participants who exit the program will exit to a non-time-limited stable housing option.” Individuals not experiencing homelessness would not be eligible for most subsidies, impacting the ability to meet this performance measure. 

How will this impact agencies/reporting?

	
	Answer

	
	The expectation of this performance measure is to avoid a return to homelessness upon program exit. Additionally, reporting from the first year of the contract will establish baselines for each Performance Measure.



	32
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	Will unit set-up (i.e. furnishings, home goods, etc.) be the responsibility of the applicant?

	
	Answer

	
	Unit set-up is the responsibility of the awarded Bidder and Participant; however, fees associated with setting up the Unit (e.g., furnishings and home goods) cannot be reimbursed through the resulting contract. HSS staff will be expected to work with Participants to identify any available supports and/or services to assist with Unit set-up.



	33
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not provided
	What is the minimum/max length of time HSS is expected to be offered and/or delivered to the participant?

	
	Answer

	
	HSS is delivered on a person-centered basis and thus, services will be delivered until they are deemed no longer necessary by the Participant, or if there are any extenuating circumstances that would require a discharge from the program to ensure appropriate level of care.



	34
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	"Lease" is used throughout the document to describe the relationship between the client and their housing, but lease is not listed as a definition. 

What is the definition of "lease" within the context of this NoFo, (impacts service delivery/eligibility for TCM and additional community-based services)?

	
	Answer

	
	This RFP does not include a specific definition of lease due to the wide range of terms which rental contracts may contain. 



	35
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, G.14.
Page 14
	a. Will the HHS manual referenced in this RFP be released before applications are due? 
b. If not, will awarded entities be involved in the development of this manual?

	
	Answer

	
	a. No.
b. No.



	36
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, J. Table 1, c.
Page 16
	Are HQS and NSPIRE inspections both acceptable?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes. Although the Federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) is requiring states to transition from HQS inspections to NSPIRE inspections; due to ongoing challenges faced by public housing authorities and feedback from the industry, HUD has extended the NSPIRE compliance deadline from October 1, 2025, to February 1, 2027. As such, both HQS and NPSIRE inspections are acceptable until the transition date indicated by the housing entity responsible for the Tenant’s housing resource or subsidy.



	37
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, J. Table 1, c.
Page 16
	For either inspection, do the inspections need to be completed by a certified instructor, (i.e. in YHDP, we are allowed to complete HQS instead of utilizing the state/other "official" inspector)?

	
	Answer

	
	The inspections need to be completed by a certified instructor, if required.



	38
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, G.2.d.
Page 13
	Regarding assisting participants in accessing services: Can funds through this RFP be used to pay for services for the participant until such time insurance can be secured (i.e. MaineCare, other insurance/benefits, etc.)?

	
	Answer

	
	No. The expectation is that HSS services will assist with covering any Participant’s needs during lapses in insurance coverage. During contract, should there be any extenuating cases where this is not possible, the awarded Bidders should reach out to the Department for consult. 



	39
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	What is the anticipated score range on the MCES assessment that the services would be most suited for?

	
	Answer

	
	The Maine CoC CE will determine the required score ranges, and this will be posted online once available.  



	40
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, C. 
Page 9
	Do these 10 units need to be secured before award, or can a landlord engagement strategy suffice post-award?

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answer to question 4 of this document. 



	41
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A.
Page 7
	How will DHHS define “duplication” vs. complementary services, especially with existing programs like HOPE/ESHAP?

	
	Answer

	
	Programs, services, and/or supports that are available to a Participant through another source, including MaineCare services, must be explored for service utilization. The Department’s expectation is for HSS providers to maximize opportunities to leverage MaineCare, while ensuring HSS services do not duplicate services available through any other billing source. The expectation is for HSS providers to maximize referrals and linkages to ensure Participants receive needed services. In the case of a complementary service, appropriate justification must be provided to indicate the need and validate how the service will not duplicate an existing program, service, and/or support.  



	42
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.3.a.
Page 13
	Can DHHS clarify what counts as duplication (e.g., case management vs. stabilization support)?

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answer to question 41 of this document. 



	43
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.2.
Page 14
	Will DHHS fund clinical supervision costs, or must these be absorbed in program budgets?

	
	Answer

	
	These may be included within the program budgets. It is the Bidder’s responsibility to submit a budget that adequately meets the service delivery requirements of this RFP. 



	44
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, G.4.
Page 13
	For scattered-site housing, what kinds of activities meet this requirement (virtual, peer groups, etc.)?

	
	Answer

	
	The activities referenced in Part II, G.4. of the RFP, require assisting Participants with building independent living skills by addressing social determinants of health, including provision of Community Linkages and requires on-site community-building social events; a virtual event would not be considered as an on-site community-building event. However; should there be difficulties associated with provision of on-site community-building social events, the awarded Bidder shall collaborate with the Department on alternative locations for provision of community-building social events. Peer groups held on-site would be considered as an appropriate on-site community building social event. 



	45
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, J. Table 1
Page 16 
	Will providers be held accountable if external market factors (e.g., low vacancy, landlord refusal) cause delays?

	
	Answer

	
	Should there be external market factors affecting the required performance measures, it is expected that the awarded Bidders will include notation and justification of such within their quarterly performance measure reporting. As it pertains to relationships with the landlord/property owner/property manager, the Department expects the awarded Bidders to collaborate with the owner and property management entity, as applicable, to ensure HSS Unit availability. Additionally, reporting from the first year of the contract will establish baselines for each performance measure.



	46
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV
Page 25
	Can DHHS clarify anticipated per-unit or per-participant funding levels to inform realistic staffing?

	
	Answer

	
	It is at the Bidder’s discretion to determine appropriate levels of staffing based on number of proposed HSS Units and number of proposed service hours per week. However, cost proposals must be based on the costs of providing HSS for ten (10) HSS Units for twenty (20) hours per week. The Department will negotiate with the awarded Bidders who are able to provide HSS for more than ten (10) HSS Units more than twenty (20) hours per week.   



	47
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, A. 
Page 11 
	How should providers balance CE prioritization with commitments to existing clients?

	
	Answer

	
	As indicated in Part II, A.3.a. of the RFP, HSS staff are not expected to advocate at CE for any specific individual. 



	48
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.2.
Page 13; 
Part II, D.
Page 12; and Part I, A.
Page 8
	In Part AAAA of H.P. 163 - L.D. 258 (page 358), the section on “Housing Stability Services” states that services “must be available to residents no less than 20 hours per week.” We want to confirm our understanding of this requirement. (Part II, F.2., p. 13)

a. Does the Department intend for this to mean:
i. That services must be available to all residents collectively for at least 20 hours per week (e.g., a total of 20 hours of staff time allocated across all residents), or
ii. That services must be available to each individual resident no less than 20 hours per week.

Additionally, the RFP does not specify that the minimum 10 HSS units must be in a single location (Part II, D., p. 12). It also requires that if a unit becomes unavailable, the provider must replace it. 

b. Can the Department confirm that units may be spread across different buildings? If so, should bidders assume:
i. 20 hours per building regardless of number of units, or
ii. 20 hours total across all units (prorated by number of residents/locations)?

c. Finally, if more than 10 units are proposed, should the expectation scale proportionally (e.g., 40 hours for 20 units), or remain at a flat minimum of 20 hours? (Part II, F.2., p. 13; Part II, D., p. 12; and Part I, A., p. 8)

	
	Answer

	
	a. Each awarded Bidder must ensure HSS is available a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week to a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units; and services must adequately meet Participant needs to build independent living skills, maintain housing, and access necessary MaineCare services and non-MaineCare community-based services. 
b. Yes, the proposed HSS Units may be spread across different buildings. The awarded Bidders must ensure availability of at least twenty (20) hours of HSS in total, across all HSS Units. 
c. To ensure fairness in cost across each Hub, all cost proposals must be based on the costs of providing HSS for ten (10) HSS Units for twenty (20) hours per week. The Department will negotiate with the awarded Bidders who are able to provide HSS for more than ten (10) HSS Units more than twenty (20) hours per week.  



	49
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Definitions
	a. The RFP defines Housing Stability Services (HSS), but can DHHS clarify how HSS is distinguished from other service models such as DLSS, HOME, or Targeted Case Management? Specifically, how does the Department determine when services are considered duplicative?
b. For example: If someone is in an HSS apartment but wants DLSS services, do they need to be removed from HSS?
c. If someone is receiving HOME services, can they be housed in an HSS apartment and retain their HOME stabilization and/or maintenance tier services?
d. Can an individual be connected with BHH or OHH while enrolled in HSS?

	
	Answer

	
	a. It is at the Bidder’s discretion.  The awarded Bidders will be required to provide sufficient justification to indicate and support how a service would not be considered as duplication of another existing service.  
b. No.  If a Participant receives Daily Living Support Services (DLSS), the expectation is for HSS staff to support the Participant without duplicating services provided through DLSS. 
c. Yes; however, services provided by HSS staff may not duplicate services provided through Housing Outreach and Member Engagement (HOME) providers.   
d. Yes; however, services provided by HSS staff may not duplicate services provided through Behavioral Health Homes (BHH) or Opioid Health Homes (OHH). 



	50
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, E.
Pages 12-13
	a. What are the eligibility requirements for participants in HSS programs? 
b. If an individual is already served under another program (e.g., HOME, TCM, or a housing voucher), can they be enrolled in HSS? 
c. If a landlord identifies units for HSS support, and those units are currently occupied, can the current residents be included in the 10 units?  

	
	Answer

	
	a. Individuals eligible for HSS must meet the definition for Chronic Homeless and have a correlating Condition, per 22 M.R.S. §20-A. 
b. Yes; however, services provided by HSS staff may not duplicate services provided through another program.  
c. No. Potential HSS Participants will be referred through the Maine CoC CE. 



	51
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, E.
Page 13
	a. If an individual is already housed through another program, can they be added to HSS? 
b. What happens if they decline ongoing stabilization or case management services after being housed – are they discharged?

	
	Answer

	
	a. No. Potential HSS Participants will be referred through the Maine CoC CE.  
b. No. HSS Participants are not required to receive services in order to remain a Participant in the program. All HSS services are voluntary, and provided with Participant consent through a person-centered, strengths-based approach. It is expected that HSS staff engage with Participants regularly to build rapport and encourage participation.  



	52
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, D.
Page 12
	May a bidder partner with more than one property owner to meet the 10-unit minimum requirement?  

	
	Answer

	
	Yes.



	53
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, D.
Page 12; 
Part IV, Section IV.1.b.
Page 25
	a. May a program propose more than 10 units?
b. If so, how will this affect both the cost proposal (which is based on 10 units at 20 hours per week) and the scoring process? 
c. How will cost be weighed relative to program design and partnerships if a bidder proposes more than the required minimum units?

	
	Answer

	
	a. Yes. 
b. Scoring of the Cost Proposal will be based on providing HSS for ten (10) HSS Units for twenty (20) hours per week. Scoring of the Proposed Services, with ten (10) or more HSS Units for twenty (20) or more hours per week will be based on the evaluation process outlined in Part V, A.2. of the RFP. 
c. The proposed cost will be weighed based on providing HSS for ten (10) HSS Units for twenty (20) hours per week using the mathematical formula outlined in Part V, B.3. of the RFP.  For conditional awardees, the Department will negotiate with the awarded Bidders who are able to provide HSS for more than ten (10) HSS Units more than twenty (20) hours per week, if there is funding available.



	54
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, D.
Page 12
	Are all HSS units allowed to be located within a single building, or must they be distributed across multiple properties?

	
	Answer

	
	HSS Units may be distributed across multiple properties.



	55
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV, 1.b. and c.
Page 25
	Please clarify the financial model. Can/should program funds be used to support rent or landlord incentives, and if so, is this treated as a grant to the provider, or will another billing/reimbursement mechanism be required?

	
	Answer

	
	No, program funds cannot be used to support rent or landlord incentives. 



	56
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, K.
Pages 16 -19
	Will reporting be based primarily on hours of service, number of individuals served, tenancy outcomes, or a combination of all?

	
	Answer

	
	All reporting requirements are indicated in Table 2.



	57
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, J. Table 1
Page 16
	The RFP requires providers to track HQS or NSPIRE inspections, with a performance measure that less than 5% may fail for causes attributable to the Tenant. Typically, these inspections are conducted by the property manager or housing authority. 

Would a note or report from the property manager indicating any failures due to Tenant causes be sufficient documentation for provider records?

	
	Answer

	
	Bidders must maintain a copy of the HQS or NSPIRE inspection reports in their records and the HQS or NSPIRE inspection reports will include the inspection results and if the inspection failed due to causes attributable to the Tenant. It is at the Bidder’s discretion to maintain additional documentation. 



	58
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, J. Table 1
Page16
	The RFP references “Participants who exit the program” but does not define what constitutes an exit. 

a. How does the Department define when a tenant “exits” the HSS program?
b. If a tenant reaches a level of stabilization, are they considered discharged from the program? 
c. If so, do they remain in their apartment, or does the provider need to identify a new unit in order to maintain the required 10-unit minimum?
d. If a tenant chooses not to continue receiving HSS services, are they considered discharged? 
e. If so, same question — do they keep the apartment, and would the provider need to secure another apartment to maintain the inventory?

	
	Answer

	
	a. Refer to the answer to question 33 of this document. 
b. No, refer to the answer to question 33 of this document. 
c. N/A; however, awarded Bidders are expected to demonstrate best efforts to ensure a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units are available, this is a minimum number and awarded Bidders are welcome to solicit for any additional HSS Units with property owners.
d. No, all HSS services are voluntary. Refer to the answer to question 51.b. of this document.  However, if a Participant chooses to leave the program or chooses to terminate services fully, then an exit to HSS shall occur.  
e. N/A



	59
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A.2.
Page 7
	Are HSS provided in housing first units with 24/7 supportive services that are currently operating eligible for this opportunity provided those units and services meet all other requirements in the RFP?

	
	Answer

	
	No; services provided for 24/7/365 on-site Housing First units through the Home for Good program are funded separately and are a separate service.  



	60
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, C. 
Page 9
	a. Do the units identified in the proposal have to be immediately available for occupancy (i.e., vacant) by Participants at the time of proposal? 
b. If yes, this would be a significant barrier to engaging property owners who would likely be reluctant to hold units open for the duration of the RFP and subsequent contractual processes.

	
	Answer

	
	a. No, refer to the answer to question 4 of this document. 
b. N/A 



	61
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, A.1. 
Page 11
	Is there an expectation that HSS Providers will bill MaineCare for any of the services provided under this RFP?

	
	Answer

	
	The Department expects awarded HSS providers to maximize opportunities to leverage MaineCare services while ensuring HSS does not duplicate services available through any other billing source. Any MaineCare billable service must be billed to MaineCare.  



	62
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, E., F., and G.
Pages 12 - 14
	a. What is the expected length of enrollment for participants? 
b. Is there a maximum time of enrollment?  

	
	Answer

	
	a. Refer to the answer to question 33 of this document.
b. No.



	63
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.2. 
Page 13
	Please clarify if services are to be available no less than 20 hours per week to each participant or if the requirement is to provide a minimum of 20 hours of services per week to all participants combined. For example, if there are 10 participants enrolled, is the expected availability of services 20 hours x 10 participants, equaling 200 hours of available services per week?

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answer to question 7 of this document. 



	64
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, F.5. 
Page 13
	Is the requirement to “provide a method for interested participants to work and/or volunteer within the awarded Bidder’s agency” intended to support the requirement to provide peer support services?

	
	Answer

	
	It is at the Bidder’s discretion. Peer support services provided must be sufficient to meet the unique needs of Participants. 



	65
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, H.1. 
Page 14
	Please define “on-call support.”

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answers to questions 24 of this document. 



	66
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, K. Table 2, d. 
Page 17
	Please elaborate on the level of reporting for data under the 5th, 8th, and 9th bullets where the measure is not specified. 

a. Is the Department requiring data to be reported with de-identified aggregate measures (e.g., total number of participants with criminal charges) or is the requirement to provide identifiable, individual level data? 
b. If data is identifiable, please describe how data will be used. For example, if a client is incarcerated or has a serious lease violation, what would the Department do with that information?

	
	Answer

	
	a. The awarded Bidder must retain applicable Participant records within their agency. For the monthly report; data may be provided as de-identified aggregate measures for the:
· 5th bullet – Any occurrence(s) that affects or has the potential to affect the Participant’s ability to maintain tenancy at an HSS Unit;
· 8th bullet – Any breaks in tenancy (e.g., eviction, hospitalization and incarceration); and
· 9th bullet – Any criminal charges received by Participants, including but not limited to charges that may result in police custody., data may be provided as de-identified aggregate measures. 
b. N/A 



	67
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not provided
	Could you please share the reimbursement rate for HSS services covered by the RFP.

	
	Answer

	
	As this is a competitive process, Bidders are to propose a reimbursement rate for HSS services.  Bidders must submit cost proposals indicating their anticipated cost to provide HSS to ten (10) HSS Units for twenty (20) hours per week. The Department will negotiate with the awarded Bidders who are able to provide HSS for more than ten (10) HSS Units more than twenty (20) hours per week.  



	68
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, I. 7.
Page 15
	Describe the Bidder’s understanding that the State will not consume any awarded Bidder’s applications, but the awarded Bidder will consume one/more State application(s)

	
	Answer

	
	“Consume” within this statement means “use”.



	69
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	Does HSS allow gender specific housing? 

	
	Answer

	
	Gender specific housing is outside the scope of this RFP. 



	70
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	Where service provider requirements (20 hours) for HSS differ significantly from the 24/7 service provider requirements of HFSSS, is there an acuity threshold for eligibility for HSS?

	
	Answer

	
	Refer to the answer to question 9.b. of this document. 



	71
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	When will the HSS Guidelines be made available to Bidders?

	
	Answer

	
	The Department anticipates the HSS Program Manual will be made available to the awarded Bidders by the contract start date. 



	72
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Not Provided
	Are Single Room Occupancy (SRO) facilities allowable, if they include leases?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes, refer to the answer to question 9.a. of this document. 



Rev. 8/26/20
Rev. 8/26/20
image1.jpeg




image2.emf
DHHS RFP  Response Submission Template.docx


DHHS RFP Response Submission Template.docx
RFP # 202508118

Housing Stability Services





RESPONSE TO PROPOSED SERVICES



		Bidder’s Organization Name:

		



		Proposed Target Area (Hub) 

Select only one (1) Hub per proposal submission



		Hub

		County(ies)



		☐ Hub 1

		York



		☐ Hub 2

		Cumberland 



		☐ Hub 3

		Midcoast: Sagadahoc, Knox, Lincoln and Waldo Counties, and the Towns of Brunswick and Harpswell



		☐ Hub 4

		Androscoggin



		☐ Hub 5

		Western: Oxford and Franklin Counties, and the Towns of Livermore and Livermore Falls



		☐ Hub 6

		Central: Somerset and Kennebec



		☐ Hub 7

		Penquis: Penobscot and Piscataquis



		☐ Hub 8

		Downeast: Washington and Hancock



		☐ Hub 9

		Aroostook







INSTRUCTIONS: Bidders must use this form to provide a response to Part IV, Section III Proposed Services.  Bidders may expand each of the response (white) spaces within this document in order to provide a full response to each requirement.



		Part IV, Section III     Proposed Services



		1. Services to be Provided

a. In the sections below, discuss the Scope of Services referenced in Part II of the RFP and what the Bidder will offer. 

b. Give particular attention to describing the methods and resources to be used and how the tasks involved will be accomplished.  

c. Also, describe how the Bidder will ensure expectations and/or desired outcomes will be achieved as a result of the proposed services.  

d. If subcontractors/consultants are involved, clearly identify the work each will perform.



		Part II

A. Administrative Requirements



		Describe in detail the Bidder’s justification for the anticipated target area to be served, including data related to the number of individuals experiencing Chronic Homelessness in the proposed target area, with data source(s) indicated. 



		



		1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, within ninety (90) calendar days of the start of the initial period of performance and service delivery, and throughout each contract period resulting from this RFP:

a. Be enrolled as a MaineCare Provider; 

b. Be enrolled as a Housing Outreach and Member Engagement (HOME) Provider and/or certified as a Targeted Case Management (TCM) agency; and

c. Become a Maine Continuum of Care (CoC) Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) participating agency.



		



		2. Describe in detail how the Bidder will comply with and provide Housing Stability Services (HSS) in accordance with the Housing First Program (Housing First) manual, when published, including the Basic Principles of Housing First Services (Basic Principles); and applicable State statute and rules, including 22 M.R.S. §20-A and 14-118 C.M.R Ch. 20 Housing First Program Administrative Responsibility Rule.



		



		3. Describe in detail how the Bidder will participate in the Maine CoC Coordinated Entry System (CE), including notification to the CoC CE regarding availability of HSS Unit(s) and in order for HSS staff to be notified of any upcoming potential Program Participants (Participants). 

a. Describe the Bidder understanding that HSS staff are not expected to advocate at CE for any specific individual.



		



		4. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS staff are knowledgeable about naloxone and its administration; including ensuring HSS staff have naloxone on-hand at all times when providing HSS.



		



		5. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure policy guidelines for HSS decision making, program operations, and monitoring are developed prior to HSS service provision. 

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure policy guidelines include a grievance and complaint process.



		



		6. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, on an annual basis, provide voluntary anonymous satisfaction surveys to Participants, with survey assistance provided to Participants only as requested and needed. 

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will develop and provide the Department with the satisfaction survey for approval within sixty (60) calendar days of the initial period of performance.



		



		7. Describe in detail how the Bidder will maintain a record for each Participant.



		



		B. Healthcare, Behavioral Health, and Other Service Provider Partnerships



		1. [bookmark: _Hlk191976353]Describe in detail how the Bidder will establish and/or maintain formal (e.g., Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) or contract) and informal relationships with MaineCare providers in the service area qualified to deliver necessary health, behavioral health, and other appliable services to ensure Participants have timely access to services and are able to sufficiently maintain permanent housing, including at minimum: 

a. Behavioral Health treatment, including substance use and mental health treatment; 

b. Medical care;

c. Behavioral Health Crisis (Crisis) services through the Behavioral Health Crisis System; and

d. Other services as appropriate and as identified by Participant(s).



		



		· Provide the Bidder’s anticipated Partnerships with MaineCare Health and Behavioral Health Providers, which must be included as Attachment 6, which describes the available MaineCare health and behavioral health providers the Bidder anticipates developing formal relationships with, in order to meet Participant needs. The description must include, at minimum: 

· The specific agency(/ies) the Bidder proposes developing formal relationships with; and 

· The anticipated service(s) to be provided by the proposed agencies.



		



		2. [bookmark: _Hlk191976402]Describe in detail how the Bidder will establish and maintain formal and informal relationships, as applicable, with other non-MaineCare service providers in the local community in order to address Participants needs, ensure timely access to assessments and services and ensure permanent housing maintenance.



		



		3. Describe in detail how the Bidder will partner with community-based organizations, such as Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH) providers, to provide education on Housing First.



		



		C. Property-based Partnerships



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will offer ongoing education on Housing First, including the Basic Principles, to all applicable property partners, including owners and managers, as appropriate.

0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will at a minimum, provide education on Housing First prior to the first Participant signing a lease at the associated property, at least once annually, and when there are new property-associated staff (e.g., new property manager) hired.



		



		2. Describe in detail how the Bidder will develop and implement strategies in collaboration with the owner and property management entity to mitigate common reasons for eviction.



		



		D. Minimum HSS Units and MOUs Requirements



		1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will demonstrate best efforts to ensure a minimum of ten (10) HSS Units are available to support HSS provision, throughout the duration of the contract, through collaboration and outreach with existing and potential new property owner(s). 

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will notify the Department within seven (7) calendar days when:

i. The property owner provides notification regarding an anticipated HSS Unit vacancy; and

ii. When a previously identified HSS Unit is no longer available, and include an anticipated plan to ensure the minimum of ten (10) HSS Units are available within the Target Area (Hub).



		



		2. Describe in detail how the Bidder will use best efforts to execute an MOU(s) with the property owner(s), for the anticipated HSS Unit(s), identified within the Bidder’s proposal submitted under this RFP, and provide copies to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of the start of the initial period of performance, that includes and addresses at minimum:

a. The property owner name and property management provider(s) name, as applicable; 

b. The name of the property(/ies), if applicable, and physical address where HSS Units are available;

c. If each physical location will utilize for project-based rental assistance or tenant-based rental assistance;

d. The total number of unit(s) at each physical address and the total number of unit(s) designated for HSS; and

e. The responsibility delineation of the awarded Bidder and property owner including how the property owner:

i. Intends to work with the awarded Bidder to support the provision of HSS; and

ii. Will ensure the awarded Bidder has access to the building for general operations and emergency situations, and the capacity to utilize common areas, if applicable, for program activities.



		



		3. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure all subsequent MOUs developed for new HSS Units identified during the contract period are provided to the Department for review within seven (7) calendar days of an MOU execution.



		



		4. Describe in detail how the Bidder will notify the Department of any concerns related to property ownership that may result in an HSS Unit(s) becoming unavailable.



		



		E. Participant Outreach Prior to Tenancy



		Housing First is intended to align with and leverage efforts and opportunities through the Maine CoC and CE. It is one of many programs within the CoC, and the Department trusts the CE to match each person with the most appropriate available resources based on the CE and other Department-approved eligibility screening processes. 



		1. Once an individual has been identified as a potential Participant and has been awarded a housing resource for a Property Under the Program, describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS staff engage with the individual to confirm eligibility documentation and program requirements and enroll the individual into HSS, as appropriate. Once a potential Participant’s eligibility has been confirmed engage with the Participant and their support system to assist with ensuring tenancy at the property, including lease execution. 

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will maintain supporting documentation within the Participant’s file indicating their eligibility to receive Housing First services, including the appropriate correlating Condition and documentation of Chronic Homelessness, per 22 M.R.S. §20-A.



		



		F. Programmatic Requirements



		1. [bookmark: _Hlk61440699]Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS is provided with minimal barriers to accessing services, including ensuring accessibility and needed interpreter services, as applicable.



		



		1. [bookmark: _Hlk191975368]Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS is available no less than twenty (20) hours per week and adequately meets the needs of Participants to build independent living skills, maintain housing, and access necessary MaineCare services and non-MaineCare community-based services.



		



		1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS is integrated with all Ancillary Supports. 

2. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS does not duplicate other services received by the Participant. 

2. Describe in detail how the Bidder will MaineCare billable services are billed to MaineCare.



		



		1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS is provided in-person, to the fullest extent possible.  

3. Describe the Bidder’s understanding that Department approval is required for policies and procedures not delivered in-person. 

3. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure all in-person service provision hours are flexible and scheduled according to Participant needs.



		



		5. Describe in detail how the Bidder will provide a method for interested Participants to work and/or volunteer within the awarded Bidder’s agency.



		



		G. Housing Stability Services (HSS)



		0. [bookmark: _Hlk61440781]Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure all HSS are provided voluntarily through a person-centered, strengths-based approach.

0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, regardless of HSS participation, engage with Participants regularly to build rapport and encourage participation.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will offer and assist Participants with accessing, maintaining, and navigating:

1. Insurance coverage, including MaineCare coverage, as applicable;

1. Needed MaineCare services, as applicable, including but not limited to Chapter 101, Sections 13, 17, 65, and 91 of the MaineCare Benefits Manual;

1. Social services and benefits, including but not limited to social security disability (including a referral to SSI/SSDI Outreach, Access and Recovery (SOAR), as appropriate), transportation, and food access; and

1. Community-based clinical resources, including but not limited to health care services and behavioral health services, including substance use treatment.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure Participants have sufficient information and resources available, including contact information, to access needed services to address any emergent needs in a timely manner, including contact information to connect with the Behavioral Health Crisis System.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will assist Participants with building independent living skills by addressing social determinants of health, including provision of Community Linkages and on-site community-building social events developed with Participant input. 

3. Describe in detail how the Bidder will collaborate with the Department regarding alternative locations for provision of community-building social events, should there be difficulties related to provision of on-site community-building social events.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will provide Housing Support and other stabilization services to Participants including, but not limited to, orientation and move-in assistance; lease comprehension; mediation; peer support services and coordination, as applicable; and Behavioral Health Crisis (Crisis) intervention.



		



		6. Describe in detail how the Bidder will offer and provide Harm Reduction services.



		



		7. Describe in detail how the Bidder will offer and provide case management services for Participants without an external case manager.



		



		8. Describe in detail how the Bidder will complete an initial assessment of the Participant’s existing Ancillary Support(s) and natural support(s) within thirty (30) calendar days of the Participant’s request to begin HSS.

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will complete a needs assessment, if a needs assessment has not been completed by Ancillary Supports. 

b. Describe in detail how the Bidder will utilize the completed assessment for development of the Participant’s individual service plan, if a needs assessment has been completed by Ancillary Supports, with Participant consent.



		



		9. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure Participant needs are assessed at least annually after the initial assessment. 

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will utilize the assessment that has already been completed for development and update of the Participant’s individual service plan, if Participant needs have already been assessed by Ancillary Supports in that year, with Participant consent.



		



		10. Describe in detail how the Bidder will utilize information garnered from assessments to develop person-centered, strengths based individual service plans, updated annually or more as needed.



		



		11. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure all individual service planning addresses, at minimum: 

a. Health and behavioral health care needs, as applicable; 

b. Relationship building and maintenance, inclusive of natural support(s);

c. Harm Reduction;

d. Life skills development; 

e. Housing Support; and

f. Care coordination.



		



		12. Describe in detail how the Bidder will develop an individual Crisis plan with Participants as part of their overall individual service planning, as applicable.



		



		13. Describe in detail how the Bidder will develop an individualized mitigation plan for each Participant that addresses historical and current barriers to maintaining permanent housing, should an adverse action occur as it pertains to tenancy.



		



		14. Describe in detail how the Bidder will once the HSS program manual is published by the Department, follow all applicable review timelines for individualized service, Crisis, and mitigation plans. 

a. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure, at minimum, plans are reviewed annually, or more frequently when a life-changing event occurs, new information is obtained, and/or the Participant elects to change their plan(s).



		



		H. Staffing



		The Department is seeking innovative and creative staffing configurations to meet the requirements of this RFP. The anticipated staffing patterns must support the delivery of HSS. 



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure on-call support is available when staff are not in-person to ensure Participants’ needs are appropriately triaged.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure HSS is provided through a multidisciplinary team, including sufficient supervision for clinical and non-clinical staff.

1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, at minimum, ensure all staff have at least one (1) year of experience providing direct services to individuals experiencing homelessness and/or at least one (1) year of direct lived experience with homelessness.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure staffing aligns with the needs of Participants.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure the staffing structure includes appropriate levels of oversight and/or supervision for each position, including at minimum, ensuring all staff:  

3. Receive regular supervision from qualified clinical personnel; and 

3. Participate in regular ongoing professional development and training related to HSS service provision.



		



		· Provide the Bidder’s anticipated Training Plan for required initial and ongoing training of HSS staff, which must be included as Attachment 7. The Training Plan must include, at minimum: 

· The training topics for required initial and ongoing trainings; 

· The training facilitators for each training, as applicable and available; and

· The timeline for initial and ongoing training completions, including training(s) that must be completed prior to interacting with Participants.



		



		5. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure all staff interacting with Participants, including supervising staff, have sufficient appropriate initial and ongoing training.



		



		6. Describe in detail how the Bidder will ensure the staff composition is diverse and culturally sensitive and reflects the Participant’s cultural and communication needs.



		



		7. Describe in detail how the Bidder will develop and maintain a network of volunteers, including Participants, who are available in-person who can provide peer support.



		



		I. Participant Tracking and Confidentiality Requirements



		Participant-level data collection for the first year will be negotiated as part of the conditional contract award.  The Department reserves the right to modify, change, and/or add new measures and/or yearly targets through the duration of the contract.  



Bidders may propose additional Participant data collection points relevant to achieving the programmatic goals of HSS. All Participant data collection will require Department approval prior to implementation.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, at a minimum, ensure Participant data collection includes the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) HMIS universal data elements, per Appendix H, U.S. HUD HMIS Data Dictionary.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, with Participant permission, enter required Participant data into the Maine CoC HMIS, as data becomes available, per the Maine HMIS Data Quality Plan and Best Practices Guide.



		



		0. Describe in detail how the Bidder will, obtain and maintain insurance as outlined in the State of Maine IT-Service Contract, under Rider B-IT, Section 19. Insurance Requirements.



		



		0. If the awarded Bidder will electronically collects sensitive information (PII, PHI, and/or other confidential data) as part of the service delivery under the contract awarded under this RFP, describe in detail how the Bidder will the awarded Bidder must implement risk assessment and vulnerability scanning policies and procedures, at minimum to be equivalent to MaineIT policies for:

3. Rules of Behavior (PL-4);

3. Risk Assessment Policy & Procedures (RA-1); and

3. Vulnerability Scanning Procedure (RA-5).



		



		5. Describe in detail how the Bidder will comply with all State and Federal laws regarding the protection of confidential and/or sensitive information that is collected or maintained by the awarded Bidder, including, as applicable, notification to individuals in the event of unauthorized access or disclosure.



		



		6. Describe in detail how the Bidder will comply with all confidentiality requirements outlined in the State of Maine IT-Service Contract, under Rider B-IT, Section 30. Confidentiality.



		



		7. Describe the Bidder’s understanding that the State will not consume any awarded Bidder’s applications, but the awarded Bidder will consume one/more State application(s)



		



		8. Describe in detail how the Bidder will report Critical Incidents to the Department following Department Critical Incident policy, once the HSS program manual is finalized by the Department.



		



		J. Performance Measures



		1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will perform all services proposed in response to this RFP by achieving all Performance Measures listed in Table 1. 

0. Submit data to support the performance measure utilizing a link to be provided by the Department or via a third-party data source, as indicated within the performance measure data source column of Table 1. 

0. Provide additional supportive documentation as indicated in Table 1, for Department validation of the summary data submitted in the Performance Measures Report as requested by the Department.



		Table 1

Mandatory Performance Measures



		Performance Measure

		Assessment Cycle

		Supportive Documentation and Performance Measure Source



		Reporting from the first year of the contract will establish baselines for each Performance Measure.



		Office Goal/Initiative: Ensure Participants avoid a return to homelessness.



		a.

		At least eighty percent (80%) of Participants will execute a lease and take occupancy at a Property Under the Program within forty-five (45) days of program entry. 

		Quarterly

		Provider Records 



		b.

		At least eighty percent (80%) of Participants will have an executed lease for at least ninety percent (90%) of the time after initial housing move-in date. 

		Quarterly

		Provider Records 



		c.

		Less than five percent (5%) of HQS or NSPIRE inspections will fail for causes attributable to the Tenant.

		Quarterly

		Provider Records 



		d.

		At least eighty-five (85%) of Participants who exit the program will exit to a non-time-limited stable housing option.



Examples of non-time-limited stable housing include, but are not limited to: Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers, and other types of affordable or subsidized housing; Assisted Living; living with family; home ownership; and long-term Residential Care Facility placement. 

		Quarterly

		Provider Records 



		Office Goal/Initiative: Ensure Participants receive necessary benefits, services and supports.



		e.

		For Participants without adequate healthcare insurance coverage at program enrollment, at least ninety percent (90%) of Participants applied for MaineCare and/or other health insurance within sixty (60) days of the Participant’s move-in date at the HSS Unit.

		Quarterly

		Provider Records 



		



		



		K. Reports



		1. Describe in detail how the Bidder will track and record all data/information necessary to complete the required reports listed in Table 2:



		Table 2 – Required Reports



		Name of Report or On-Site Visit

		Description or Appendix #



		a.

		Performance Measures Report

		A reporting link provided by the Department.



		b.

		Department On-Site Visit

		As agreed, between the Department and awarded Bidder.



		c.

		Critical Incident Reporting 

		During contract negotiations, the Department will provide additional information regarding Critical Incident reporting. The system to be used for Critical Incident reporting will be through Acentra, and will mirror the existing Critical Incident reporting processes and procedures currently in existence for behavioral health service provision, as indicated in the Critical Incident training resources available on the Acentra Health Maine Training Additional Resources webpage. 



		d.

		Monthly Report

		A reporting link will be provided by the Department. Data to be provided shall include, but not be limited to:  

· Real staff work and time allocation spent during the month, including scheduled and ad-hoc time spent on-site, off-site, on outreach, and/or other appropriate HSS activities; 

· Number of Participants choosing to receive and/or declining to participate in HSS, including dates of service enrollment or service exiting, as applicable;

· Number of Participants without a lease or move-in date and number of Tenants;

· Relevant participation and tenancy dates, including program entry date and lease signage date(s); 

· Any occurrence(s) that affects or has the potential to affect the Participant’s ability to maintain tenancy at an HSS Unit;

· Information regarding HQS or NSPIRE inspections/re-inspections, including number of inspections/re-inspections completed and number that passed or failed; 

· Information regarding housing assistance recertifications, including number of recertifications completed and number of overdue recertifications;

· Any breaks in tenancy (e.g., eviction, hospitalization and incarceration); 

· Any criminal charges received by Participants, including but not limited to charges that may result in police custody; 

· Number of initiated and successful linkages,  facilitated by HSS staff, including Community Linkages and healthcare-related linkages;

· Number of Participants assessed as needing assistance with benefits applications (e.g., SNAP) and/or re-certification, including health insurance (e.g., MaineCare); 

· Number of Participants enrolled in health insurance, delineated by insurer (e.g., MaineCare); 

· Number of Participants provided with direct assistance by HSS staff in completing any activity(/ies) associated with acquiring or maintaining income stability (e.g., SSA, child support, and employment assistance); 

· Number of Participants receiving MaineCare Chapter II, Sections 13, 17, 65, and 91;

· Number of on-site and off-site community-building social HSS events held, including percentage of on-site and off-site community-building social events that had at least one (1) Participant in attendance; and

· Number of Participants with unpaid Tenant rent and/or unpaid utility bills.  



		e.

		Annual Narrative Report

		Includes at minimum:

· A summary of achievements made during the last year; 

· A summary of barriers and challenges identified during the last year, including efforts to mitigate them; 

· A narrative describing operations and/or processes to be improved upon in the next year, including anticipated quality improvement and assurance actions; and

· A summary of all on-site HSS events held, including Participant input into scheduling and type of events. 



		f.

		Satisfaction Survey Summary  

		Summary and trends on the results from the annual Participant satisfaction survey, including the actual survey results. The summary must also include the anticipated applicable program planning, quality assurance and/or quality improvement actions to be taken by the awarded Bidder to address trends analyzed from satisfaction survey results. 



		g.

		Monthly Financial Report

		Located at the Department’s Division of Contract Management website, including appropriate documentation validating staff hours worked each month and associated invoicing. 



		h.

		Agreement Closeout Report

		Located at the Department’s Division of Contract Management website.



		



		



		2. Describe in detail how the Bidder will submit all the required reports to the Department in accordance with the timelines established in Table 3:



		Table 3 – Required Reports Timelines



		Name of Report or On-Site Visit

		Period Captured by Report or on-site visit 

		Due Date 



		a.

		Performance Measures Report

		Each quarter

		Thirty (30) days after the end of each quarter



		b.

		Department On-Site Visit

		Point-in-time

		Annually, at the Department’s discretion, including impromptu brief informal on-site visits to be negotiated with the awarded Bidder.



		c.

		Critical Incident Reporting

		Per each incident 

		The Department will provide additional information regarding critical incident reporting during contract negotiations. The system to be used for critical incident reporting will be through Acentra.

Anticipated Critical Incident timelines will follow existing behavioral health Critical Incident reporting processes, mirroring the below timeline: 

· Level I Critical Incident: Report within four (4) hours if within Monday-Friday, or if not, next day by 9:00 a.m.

Level II Critical Incident: Report within twenty-four (24) hours if within, Monday-Friday, or if not, next day by 9:00 a.m. 



		d.

		Monthly Report

		Each month 

		Fifteen (15) calendar days after the end of each month



		e.

		Annual Narrative Report

		Each year 

		Annually, December 1st   



		f.

		Satisfaction Survey Summary 

		Each year

		Annually, December 1st  



		g.

		Monthly Financial Report

		Each month 

		Twenty (20) calendar days after the end of each month



		h.

		Agreement Closeout Report

		Entire contract period

		Sixty (60) days following the close of the contract period.



		



		



		2. Staffing  



		a. Provide job descriptions, which must be included as Attachment 8, detailing the primary responsibilities, duties, and required qualifications for specific job positions (do not include individual resumes) for all project staff including the project lead.  

i. In addition to job descriptions, provide a response justifying each position title.



		



		b. Describe how subcontractors/consultants, if any, will interact with the Bidder’s organization, i.e., oversight and management of subcontractor.



		



		c. Provide a staffing plan, which must be included as Attachment 9, that describes the minimum staffing (position titles and time allocation) necessary to meet the requirements of the RFP, which:

i. Indicates which staff and associated hours of service will be provided in-person at the property(/ies); and

ii. Includes a justification for each position title which includes the:

(i) Associated time allocation to meet the requirements of the RFP; and

(ii) Specific tasks to be completed during each position’s working hours, per the anticipated case load (the anticipated number of HSS Units).



		



		3. Implementation - Work Plan



		a. Provide a realistic work plan, which must be included as Attachment 10, for the implementation of the program through the first contract period.  

i. Display the work plan in a timeline chart (e.g. Gantt, etc.).  

ii. Concisely describe each program development and implementation task, the month it will be carried out and the person or position responsible for each task. 

iii. If applicable, make note of all tasks to be delegated to subcontractors.
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